
 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 

Notice is hereby given that the City Council of Caribou will hold a City Council Meeting on 

Monday, January 27, 2020 in the Council Chambers located at 25 High Street, 6:00 pm. 

1. Roll Call 

2. Invocation / Inspirational Thought 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 

4. Public Forum 

5. City Council Minutes 

a. November 18, 2019 Workshop  

b. January 7, 2020 Workshop 

6. Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 

a. Spirit of America Nominations 

b. Caribou High School Basketball – Down Syndrome Awareness Campaign 

7. New Business & Adoption of Ordinances and Resolutions 

a. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Liquor License Renewal for Bechard’s Grille 

b. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Liquor License Renewal for Mascoto’s Restaurant  

c. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding 2020 Elections (March 3, Presidential Primary & 

Referendum Elections) 

d. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Creation of an Emergency “Rainy Day” Fund 

e. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding $324,000 Payment from Aroostook Waste 

Solutions 

f. Resolution 01-02-2020 Regarding 2019 Year End Appropriations 

g. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Extension of Skyway Plaza Agreement  

h. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Easement for EMERA Maine at 142 Lyndon St 

8. Old Business 

a. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Lease Option for Solar Project on Ogren Dump  

b. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Lease of 60 Access Highway to a Beamery 

c. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding 2020 Council Priority Projects 

d. Discussion Regarding Employee Wage and Classification Policy 

9. Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

10. City Manager’s Report 

11. Reports by Staff and Appointed Officials 

12. Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under Maine Revised 

Statutes,  

Title 1, §405.6) 

13. Next Meeting(s): February 10 and 24 

14. Adjournment 

If you are planning to attend this Public Meeting and, due to a disability, need assistance in understanding or 

participating in the meeting, please notify the City ten or more hours in advance and we will, within reason, 

provide what assistance may be required. 

Certificate of Mailing/Posting 

The undersigned duly appointed City official for the municipality of Caribou City hereby certifies that a copy of 

the foregoing Notice and Agenda was posted at City Offices and on-line in accordance with City noticing 

procedures. 

BY: ____________________________________ Jayne R. Farrin, City Clerk 

Pgs 2-8 

Pgs 9-12 

 

Pg 13 

 

 

Pgs 14-15 

Pgs 16-17 

Pg 18 

Pg 19 

Pg 20 

 

Pgs 21-23 

Pgs 24-26 

Pgs 27-28 

Pgs 29-37 

Pgs 38-44 

 

Pgs 45-46 

 

 
Pgs 47-56 

1



2



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  

FROM:  Dennis Marker, City Manager  

RE:   Spirit of America Award Selection  

DATE:  March 6, 2019 

 

Discussion Item: 

 

The Spirit of America Foundation is a 501(c)(3) public charity established in Augusta, ME in 1990 

to honor volunteerism. The Spirit of America Foundation Tribute is presented in the name of Maine 

municipalities to local individuals, organizations and projects for commendable community service.  

 

The City of Caribou participated in these recognition activities last year by nominating several 

individuals and businesses for recognition (see March 11, 2019 meeting minutes). It is proposed that 

the Council once again consider an individual or group for this special recognition in 2020. The 

selected persons can be recognized at a future Council meeting.  

 

Information about the awards and foundation can be found at https://spiroaft.com/gems/ 

13

https://spiroaft.com/gems/


14



15



16



17



OFFICE OF THE CLERK 
25 HIGH STREET 

CARIBOU, MAINE 04736 

 

 

TO:  Caribou City Council 
FROM:  Jayne R. Farrin, City Clerk 
DATE:  January 16, 2020 
RE:  03-03-2020 Presidential Preference Primary and State Referendum Election 

 

There are two items that need Council action prior to the March 3, 2020 Presidential 
Preference Primary and State Referendum Election. 

1. Approve an 8:00 a.m. opening time for the March 3, 2020 Presidential Preference 
Primary and State Referendum Election. 

2. Appointment of Jayne R. Farrin as Election Warden and Danielle M. McLaughlin and 
Cherie Garman as Deputy Election Wardens for the March 3, 2020 Presidential 
Preference Primary and State Referendum Election. 

 

18



 

 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  

 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  

FROM:  Dennis Marker, City Manager  

RE:   Rainy Day Funds 

DATE:  August 9, 2019 

 

 

DISCUSSION ONLY ITEM 

 

Mayor Goughan requested that information be presented to the City Council regarding a “rainy 

day fund” for the city.  

 

The city does not currently have a designated rainy-day fund. 

 

Under Maine Revised Statute Title 30-A, Part 2 §5801, cities can create a “Credit reserve 

account”, which “may be applied in periods of financial emergency to assist in continuing its 

normal operation without increasing the tax rate.”  

 

To create such a fund, the City can either  

• appropriate funds directly (i.e. build funds into the budget). Annual appropriations “may 

not exceed 5% of the current tax commitment” (in 2020 that would mean $502,200). OR  

• transfer unencumbered surplus funds to it at the end of any fiscal year. Historically, all 

unencumbered funds have been rolled into the general fund balance and used to offset 

future tax increases. 

 

State law does not currently cap how much money can be held in these types of accounts.  

 

Use of the credit reserve account funds is predicated solely on the municipal legislative body 

determination that a “financial emergency exists”(MRS §5801.3.B).  

 

The Council discussed using one-time funds from Aroostook Waste Solutions (AWS) to create a 

rainy-day fund. At the end of 2019, there was $213,163 remaining from the 2019 AWS payment. 

Ad additional $324,082 was received from AWS for the 2020 obligation (See Agenda item 7e) 

with another allotment to be received January 2021.  

 

Recommendation 

If the Council desires to create a Credit Reserve Account then a motion needs to be made 

to name the account, state the amount of money to be placed in the account and from what 

source the funds are to be derived. Since the budget for 2020 has already been adopted, the 

Council cannot increase budget expenses to fund this account. Funding must come from 

currently unencumbered funds (e.g. AWS funds) or surplus funds from 2019 (see Agenda item 

7f). 

19



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  

FROM:  Dennis Marker, City Manager  

RE:   AWS Payment of $324,000  

DATE:  January 17, 2020 

 

Discussion and Possible Action Item: 

 

Aroostook Waste Solutions delivered a check for $324,082 to Caribou on January 17th.  These 

funds are a 2nd of three payments which will come to Caribou as a result of Presque Isle’s merger 

with Tri-Community Landfill, of which Caribou is a part owner. At this time, these funds are not 

designated for any particular use (i.e. they are unencumbered) and the Council may designate 

where these funds will be utilized within the 2020 budget or as reserves. The following are a list 

of options for the Council to consider: 

 

• Placement in a Credit Reserve account for future emergency purposes, 

• Investment of funds (current CD rates are around 3%), or 

• Use of funds to offset landfill costs. 

 

There are many options for the Council to consider. Until the Council chooses their preferred 

option, the funds will be placed in the Tri-Community/AWS reserve account (G 1-494-00) with 

the remaining merger funds received in 2019.  

20



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  

FROM:  Dennis Marker, City Manager  

RE:   Resolution 01-01-2020 2019, Year End Encumbrances 

DATE:  January 22, 2020 

 

Discussion and Possible Action Item: 

 

The Year-end close out process for the 2019 budget is nearly complete. A report from the 

Finance Director, Carl Grant, indicates that revenues were $156,521 more than anticipated and 

expenses were $202,263 less than anticipated. 

 

Regarding the excess revenues, the Charter provides the following direction: 

“Any revenues in excess of those estimated in the budget . . . shall be used for next year’s 

budget.” (Section §5.09(a) emphasis added) 

 

Regarding the unused expense funds, the Charter says:  

 

“Every appropriation, except an appropriation for a capital expenditure, shall lapse at the 

close of the fiscal year to the extent that it has not been expended or encumbered.” 

(Section §5.10) 

 

Based on the above Charter provisions Administration is recommending the following: 

1) That the additional revenues, $156,521, be reserved to offset the budget in 2021 as 

provided in Section 5.09(a) of the Charter.  

2) That $112,700 of unused expense funds be encumbered to reserve accounts for the 

respective departments where the savings are attributed (See Exhibit A on next page). 

Use of the funds from those reserves would be made in accordance with the Council 

approved Capital expense budget for 2020.  

3) That $30,000 be reserved toward uncollectible personal property taxes (i.e. accounts that 

are more than 6 years old and no court decision has been made in city’s favor for their 

collection). 

4) That the remaining $59,563 of additional unused expense funds be 1) encumbered to the 

city’s Credit Reserve account for future designation of use by the City Council or 2) 

placed in general reserves to offset the budget in 2021.  

 

The Council may choose to alter the amounts and type of encumbrances for these funds. We ask 

that the Council make a decision at the upcoming meeting so that administration can close the 

2019 books. The City Charter requires any action in this regard to be done by resolution of the 

City Council and thus Resolution 01-01-2020 has been drafted. 

 

  

21



 

Exhibit A 

 
All revenues exceeding that projected for the 2019 budget, i.e. $156,521, will be placed in general city 

reserves to offset the 2021 budget in accordance with City Charter §5.09(a). 

Unencumbered expenses, totaling $202,263, will encumbered as follows: 

Account(s) From Account To Amount Purpose 

Econ Façade Grant. 

11-01-411-01 

Façade Grant Reserve    

G 1-374-04 

$12,000* Build Reserve for downtown 

business enhancement funds 

*These funds are tied to TIF 

programs and cannot be transferred 

to a Credit Reserve. They must 

remain in State approved programs. 

Tax Asses Computers 

22-01-051-01 

Tax Assess Reserve 

G 1-371-02 

$1,086 New CAD quality computer for 

quarterly assessing work. 

Housing Equipment 

24-01-003-12 

Housing Reserve 

G 3-409-00 

$2,000 Field Inspection Tablets 

Public Works Health 

Insurance 

40-01-018-01 

River Road Maintenance 

G 1-370-09 

$50,000 Applying these funds will bring 

River Road Project up to a negative 

$6,076 balance. 

PW Crushed Stone 

and asphalt 

40-01-118-01 

40-01-121-01 

Street Maintenance 

Reserve 

G 1-370-04 

$43,000 Funds not used for chip seal 

purposes in 2019, will be used for 

asphalt overlays in 2020 

PW Sidewalks 

40-01-124-01 

Curbing Reserve 

G 1-370-05 

$2,000 Reserve funds for curbing and 

sidewalk repairs 

Rec Program 

Equipment 

50-01-138-06 

Rec Center Improvement 

Reserves 

G 1-365-02 

$1,714 Offset costs of new camera system 

in 2020 Capital Budget 

Cemetery Expenses 

65-01-166-01 

Civic Beautification 

Reserve G 1-365-19 

$900 Anticipated late bill for Grime 

Cemetery work 

Total Newly Encumbered Funds to Reserves $112,700  

 
$30,000 of non-department specific, unencumbered funds shall be reserved toward uncollectible 

personal property taxes which are more than 6 years old. 

The remaining unexpended funds, $59,563, will be  

______ Placed in a Credit Reserve account for Council designated emergency purposes 

______ Placed in general city reserves to offset the 2021 budget 

 

  

22



 

 

Resolution 01-01-2020 

 

A Resolution of the Caribou City Council  

encumbering unexpended funds within the 2019 Budget. 

 

WHEREAS,  The City Administration has found unencumbered appropriation balances within 

the 2019 budget as part of the year-end closeout process, and 

 

WHEREAS,  The City Manager has provided a written request for the City Council to transfer 

such unencumbered funds to city reserves in order to better the city’s financial 

strength in the 2020 budget year, and  

 

WHEREAS,  The Caribou City Council desires to utilize unencumbered funds in a reasonable 

way to provide benefit for the taxpayers of the City. 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, That the Caribou City Council approves the transfer of 

unencumbered 2019 funds as provided in the attached Exhibit A. 

 

The resolution was duly passed and approved by a majority of the City Council of the City of 

Caribou this 27th day of January 2020.  

 

________________________________  __________________________________ 

R. Mark Goughan, Mayor    Thomas Ayer, Deputy Mayor 

 

________________________________  __________________________________ 

Jody Smith, Councilor    Nicole Cote, Councilor 

    

________________________________  __________________________________ 

Hugh Kirkpatrick, Councilor    Doug Morrell, Councilor 

 

________________________________   

Joan Theriault, Councilor 

       __________________________________ 

Attest: Jayne Farrin, City Clerk 

 

 

23



AMENDMENT AND EXTENSION OF 

CREDIT ENHANCEMENT AGREEMENT

AMENDMENT AND EXTENSION made this ____ day of February, 2019 to a certain
CREDIT ENHANCEMENT AGREEMENT dated February 38, 2005, between the City of
Caribou, a municipal body corporate and politic and a political subdivision of the State of Maine
(herein the “City”) and Caribou Management Company, LLC, a/k/a Caribou Management,
LLC,  a limited liability company duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of
Maine, with a place of business in Caribou, Maine (herein the “Company”).

WITNESSETH THAT:

WHEREAS, the City designated the Caribou Skyway Plaza Development District and
Tax Increment Financing District pursuant to Title 30-A M.R.S.A. Section  167,  by vote at a
City Council Meeting duly noticed and held on September 12, 2005; and

WHEREAS, on March 13, 2006, the City designated and approved the Downtown Tax
Increment Financing District and Development Program (the “Downtown TIF District”) which
District includes and incorporates therein the Skyway Plaza property owned by Caribou
Management Company, LLC as described in the Caribou Skyway Plaza Development District;
and 

WHEREAS, the City of Caribou Downtown TIF District and Development Program was
approved by the State of Maine, Department of Economic and Community Development
(“Maine DECD”); and

WHEREAS, in furtherance of the Downtown Development Program, the City and
Caribou Management Company, LLC entered into a Credit Enhancement Agreement dated
February 28, 2005 for a term of fifteen (15) years which Agreement was reviewed and approved
by the Maine DECD; and

WHEREAS, the Credit Enhancement Agreement expires March, 2021; and

WHEREAS, Caribou Management Company, LLC is negotiating a fifteen (15) year
extension of the Lease with the State of Maine, Bureau of General Services for the DHHS office
building located at the Skyway Plaza; and

WHEREAS, Caribou Management Company, LLC has requested a fifteen (15) year
extension of the Credit Enhancement Agreement in order to continue to offer a low rental rate
which meets the requirements of the State of Maine; and

Page 1 of  3

24



WHEREAS, the City has agreed to the extension on the terms set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and in consideration of the
mutual promises and covenants set forth herein, the parties agree as follows:

1. Extension of Term   

The Credit Enhancement Agreement dated February 28, 2005 between the City of
Caribou and Caribou Management Company, LLC (the “CEA) is extended for an additional term
of fifteen (15) years.  The extended term shall commence April, 2021 and shall expire on March,
2036 unless earlier terminated in accordance with the provisions of the CEA.

2. Use of Tax Increment Revenues During the Extended Term

Caribou Management Company, LLC covenants, warrants and agrees that 100% of the
funds to be received by Company pursuant to and during the extended term of the CEA will be
applied to reduce the lease payments charged to the State of Maine, Bureau of General Services
for the offices of DHHS at the Skyway Plaza in Caribou, Maine and that amount of such
reduction is and will be reflected in the rental amounts recited in the new/extended Lease with
the State of Maine;

3. All Other Terms Remain in Effect.

All other terms and conditions set forth in the CEA remain in full force and effect.

4. Extension Subject to Approval

This Amendment and Extension of the Credit Enhancement Agreement is conditioned
upon review and approval of the State of Maine, Department of Economic & Community
Development.

5. Counterparts.

This Amendment and Extension may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of
which, when so executed and delivered, shall be an original, but such counterparts shall together
constitute but one and the same Agreement.

6. Integration.

This Amendment supersedes all other prior or contemporaneous understandings or
agreements, both written and oral, between the City and the Company relating to the specific
subject matter of this Amendment and Extension and the transactions contemplated hereby.

Page 2 of  3

25



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City and the Company have caused this Agreement to be
executed in their respective corporate names and their respective corporate seals to be hereunto
affixed and attested by the duly authorized officers, all as of the date first above written.

CITY OF CARIBOU

_______________________ By __________________________
Witness  Dennis L. Marker

             Caribou City Manager

CARIBOU MANAGEMENT COMPANY,
LLC

_______________________ By __________________________
Witness       Daniel Rosenberg, President

Page 3 of  3

26



City Acquired in 
2019 by Tax 
Foreclosure

City Acquired in 
2019 by Tax 
Foreclosure

EMERA Requested 
Easement Location

27



 

1 

 

RECORD AND RETURN TO: 

Emera Maine 

Attn: Felicia O’Clair 

P.O. Box 1209 

Presque Isle, ME 04769-1209 

            

AERIAL EASEMENT  
 

THE CITY OF CARIBOU, a body corporate and politic having a place of business at 25 High St., City of 

Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of Maine (the “Grantor”) being the owner by foreclosure of certain 

lands located in the City of Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of Maine, and described as follows: 
 

Being the same premises conveyed by Algonquin Northern Maine Gen Co. to  Merlin One, 

LLC herein by a Quitclaim Deed with Covenant dated July 31, 2013 and recorded at the 

Southern Aroostook Registry of Deeds in Book 5219, Page 36; Reference is made to Tax Lien 

Certificates recorded by The City of Caribou in said Registry of Deeds in Book 5774, Page 

265 and Book 5893, Page 242, in conjunction with a Notice of Impending Automatic 

Foreclosure dated October 11, 2019; 

 

for consideration paid, grants to EMERA MAINE, a Maine corporation having a place of business at 970 

Illinois Avenue, Bangor, Maine (the “Grantee”), its successors and assigns forever, the rights, privileges and 

easements to construct, maintain, operate and upgrade from time to time on said lands, for utility purposes, 

SO MUCH OF a line consisting of poles, anchors and wires with the necessary fixtures and supports, 

beginning at an existing pole, numbered 21760 located on the easterly side of the so called Lower Lyndon St. 

and west of the Aroostook River, thence southwesterly 110 feet, more or less to an existing utility pole now 

numbered 311585 on the Emera Maine GIS system, being a part of a three pole transmission structure within 

an existing easement, thence southwesterly 185 feet, more or less to an existing utility pole now numbered 

71486 located on the easterly side of a gravel drive, said pole is to be replaced in place, said pole shall have 

an anchor attached with a guy lead of 15 feet in a westerly direction, with the right to transmit electricity and 

intelligence over said line, and to clear and dispose of interfering trees and other growth from time to time, 

with permission to enter upon the said lands for the above purposes; further granting to said Emera Maine, its 

successors and assigns, the power to assign to others, in whole or in part, any or all of the rights, privileges 

and easements herein set forth.   

 

 The Grantor, for itself and its successors and assigns, covenants and agrees to and with the Grantee, 

its successors and assigns, that it will not erect or maintain or permit the erection or maintenance of any 

building, trailer, mobile home, swimming pool, or other structure, of any kind or nature, within 15 feet of 

said line, any or all of which in the opinion of the Grantee, its successors and assigns, would endanger or 

interfere with the exercise of any of the rights, privileges and easements hereby conveyed. 

  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF,________________________________ has caused this instrument to be 

acknowledged by its duly authorized representative of the CITY OF CARIBOU, this ______ day of 

________________ , 2020. 

 

                                                                        

           By: __________________________________ 

                                                                                        print name:   

                                                                                        title:       

   

 

STATE OF MAINE 

 

County of Aroostook ss:       _____________ ______, 2020 

 

 Personally appeared the above-named ________________________________ and acknowledged the 

foregoing instrument to be (his/her) free act and deed, in (his/her) aforesaid capacity, and the free act and 

deed of the CITY OF CARIBOU. 

 

 Before me, 

                               _________________________________ 
                                             Notary Public 

 

                          Print Name of Notary:  _________________________________ 

                                      Registry Use Only 

28



OPTION FOR THE LEASE OF LAND 

This Option for the Lease of land (“Option Agreement”) is entered into as of January 
___, 2020 (the “Effective Date”), by and between SynerGen Solar, LLC, a Maryland limited 
liability company with an address of 600 Reisterstown Road, Suite 310, Pikesville, MD 21208, 
(together with its subsidiaries and affiliates, “Grantee”) and the City of Caribou, a city in 
Aroostook County, Maine, with an address of 25 High Street, Caribou, ME 04736 (“Owner”).  
Each of Owner and Grantee individually referred to herein as a “Party” or collectively as the 
“Parties”. 

RECITALS 

1. Grantee is a developer, owner and/or operator of commercial solar photovoltaic (“PV”) 
energy generation, either directly or through an affiliated entity.  

2. Owner is the owner of one (1) parcel of land, comprising approximately 96+/- acres of 
land in toto, as more fully described on Exhibit A (the “Property”). 

3. Grantee wishes to lease approximately 30 acres of the Property as depicted on Exhibit B, 
together with all appurtenant rights and easements (the “Premises”). 

3. Grantee may elect to lease the Premises and to construct and operate a solar (PV) energy 
generation facility (the “Project”) on the Premises if Grantee’s assessment of the 
feasibility of interconnecting, constructing and operating such a project is favorable, in 
Grantee’s sole discretion. 

4. Grantee wishes to acquire an option to preserve its opportunity to lease the Premises, and 
Owner wishes to grant Grantee such an option. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above recitals and the mutual promises set 
forth below, and other good and valuable consideration, the adequacy and receipt of which is 
acknowledged, Grantee and Owner agree as follows: 

AGREEMENT 

1. Grant of Option.  Owner hereby grants and conveys to Grantee the exclusive right and 
option (the “Option”) to lease the Premises in accordance with the terms and conditions 
set forth in the Site Lease Agreement (the “Lease Agreement”), such Lease Agreement to 
be attached as an amendment to Exhibit C of this Option Agreement within twelve (12) 
months of the Effective Date and to contain terms substantially equivalent to the terms 
contained within this Option Agreement. Owner may not enter into any option, lease, 
easement, purchase agreement or other agreement affecting the Premises with any party 
other than Grantee during the Option Period, as set forth in Section 3, below.  The Parties 
shall hereby agree to enter into a memorandum of lease option for recording in the 
property records. 

29



2. Lease Rate.  Owner and Grantee agree to an annual lease rate of Fifteen Thousand 
Dollars ($15,000) for the Premises, with a term of Twenty (20) years.  Grantee may 
extend the term of the lease for four (4) additional periods of Five (5) years each by 
providing Ninety (90) days’ advance notice to Owner. 

3. Option Period.   The term of the Option granted by Owner to Grantee in paragraph 1 shall 
commence upon the Effective Date and continue for a period of Twelve (12) Months 
after the Effective Date, unless exercised, extended or terminated prior to that date (the 
“Option Period”). Grantee may elect to extend the Option Period one time for an 
additional Twelve (12) months. 

4. Fees.  In consideration of the rights granted to Grantee in Section 3 and elsewhere in this 
Option Agreement, Grantee shall pay Owner Two Thousand Five Hundred dollars 
($2500.00) (the “Option Fee”). Option Fee is due and payable within five (5) business 
days of the Effective Date.  

5. Exercise of Option.  Grantee may exercise this Option at any time during the Option 
Period by delivery of written notice to Owner at the address and in the manner set forth in 
Section 12A, below.  

6. Access During Option Period. Owner agrees to allow Grantee’s employees, agents, 
contractors or subcontractors to enter the Property for the purpose of evaluating the 
Premises for use for the Project.  Grantee shall indemnify and hold Owner harmless from 
and against any and all liability for personal injuries (including death) or property 
damage caused by Grantee during the Option Period.  With respect to any damage to the 
Property that may be caused by Grantee during the Option Period, Grantee, at no cost or 
expense to Owner, shall repair such damage and leave the Property in the condition that 
existed, ordinary wear and tear excepted, prior to any damage thereto caused by Grantee 
during the Option Period.  Grantee understands that the Property is a former landfill and 
that the Project and any related lease obligation is subject to approval by the State of 
Maine’s Department of Environmental Protection.  Grantee further understands that the 
landfill cap may not be penetrated at any point in time during the Option Period or lease 
term (as described in Section 2), and represents that the Project will be studied, designed, 
constructed and maintained in a way such that the integrity of the cap will not be 
compromised by the Project. 

7. Grantee’s Maintenance Responsibility Under Lease.  After execution of a lease 
agreement and Project construction, Grantee will install at its cost and expense a fence 
around the perimeter of the Premises together with installation of one or more locking 
gates.  Grantee shall maintain the fencing and gates in good condition and repair at its 
expense during the term of the lease.  Grantee shall, at its expense, be responsible for the 
security and protection of the Premises, including semiannual mowing of the Premises. 

8. Warranty as to Ownership.  Owner warrants and represents to Grantee that Owner is the 
sole owner of the Property in fee simple and each person or entity signing the Option 

30



Agreement has the full and unrestricted authority to execute and deliver this Option 
Agreement and to grant the rights granted herein.  When signed by Owner, this Option 
Agreement constitutes a valid and binding agreement enforceable against Owner in 
accordance with its terms.  There are no encumbrances or liens against the Property that 
would prevent or interfere with Grantee’s rights under this Option Agreement except as 
disclosed by Owner to Grantee.   

9. Default; Termination.  An event of default under this Option Agreement shall have 
occurred upon any breach by either Party of any material obligation of this Option 
Agreement and, if that failure to perform or breach is curable, failure of the breaching 
Party to cure the breach within fifteen (15) days of receipt of written notice of the breach 
from the non-breaching Party. 

Upon the occurrence of an event of default, the non-breaching Party shall be entitled to 
terminate this Option Agreement by delivery of written notice of termination to the 
breaching Party.  Grantee may also terminate this Option Agreement at any time without 
occurrence of a default upon delivery of ten (10) days prior written notice of termination.  

10. Nature of Interests.  This Option Agreement is intended to create and effect a valid and 
present interest in the Premises in favor of Grantee.  The burdens of the easements, leases 
and all other rights granted to Grantee in this Option Agreement shall run with and 
against the Premises and shall be a charge and burden on the Premises and shall be 
binding upon and against Owner and its successors, assigns, permittees, licensees, 
lessees, employees and agents.  The Option Agreement and the Lease Agreement shall 
inure to the benefit of Grantee and its successors, assigns, permittees, licensees and 
lessees.  Owner covenants and agrees that during the Option Period, Owner shall not 
convey the Premises or any interest in the Premises or to allow any mortgage, lien or 
encumbrance to be created in or attach to the Premises. 

11. Assignment.  Grantee may assign, transfer or convey its interests in this Option 
Agreement without Owner’s consent only to an entity created for the specific purpose of 
pursuing the Project described above or to an entity that, directly or indirectly, controls or 
is controlled by or is under common control with Grantee, provided that any such 
assignee or transferee shall be subject to all of the obligations, covenants and conditions 
applicable to Grantee pursuant to this Option Agreement.  Except to this extent, Grantee 
may not assign any of its interests in this Option Agreement without the express prior 
written approval of Owner, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, 
conditioned or delayed, and any purported assignment without such approval shall be 
void.  

12. Specific Performance.  The Owner acknowledges and agrees that should Owner breach 
any of its obligations hereunder or otherwise fail to permit Grantee to exercise any of the 
rights and privileges granted herein, Grantee shall have the right to seek specific 
performance of this Option Agreement.  In that event, Owner agrees that Grantee has no 
adequate remedy at law. 

31



13. Miscellaneous. 

A. Notice 

Notice, consents or other documents required or permitted by this Option Agreement 
shall be effective upon receipt, and shall be sent by any of the following methods:  hand 
delivery; reputable overnight courier; or certified mail, return receipt requested and shall 
be sent to the respective Parties as follows: 

To Owner:  City of Caribou 
25 High Street 
Caribou, ME 04736 
Attention:  City Manager  

To Grantee:  SynerGen Solar, LLC 
600 Reisterstown Road, Suite 310 
Pikesville, MD 21208 
Attention: Hillel Halberstam 

B. No Third-Party Beneficiaries 

No provision of this Option Agreement is intended to nor shall it in any way inure to the 
benefit of any third party so as to constitute any such person a third party beneficiary 
under this Option Agreement, or of any one or more of the terms of this Option 
Agreement or otherwise give rise to any cause of action in any person not a party to this 
Option Agreement. 

C. Entire Agreement 

It is mutually understood and agreed that this Option Agreement, including all Exhibits 
and attachments hereto, constitutes the entire agreement between Owner and Grantee 
relating to the subject matter hereof and supersedes and all prior oral or written 
understandings, representations or statements, and that no understandings, representatives 
or statements, verbal or written, have been made which modify, amend, qualify or affect 
the terms of this Option Agreement.  This Option Agreement may not be amended except 
in writing executed by both Parties. 

D. Governing Law 

The Option Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with, and shall be governed by, 
the laws of the state of Maine.   

E.  Cooperation 

32



Each of the Parties, without further consideration, agrees to execute and deliver such 
additional documents and take such action as may be reasonably necessary to carry out 
the purposes and intent of this Option Agreement and to fulfill the obligations of the 
respective Parties. 

F. Waiver 

Neither Party shall be deemed to have waived any provision of this Option Agreement or 
any remedy available to it unless such waiver is in writing and signed by the Party against 
whom the waiver would operate.  Any waiver at any time by either Party of its rights with 
respect to any rights arising in connection with this Option Agreement shall not be 
deemed a waiver with respect to any subsequent or other matter. 

G. No Representation 

Grantee makes no representation or warranty as to the likelihood that it will exercise the 
Option or the suitability of the Premises for development of solar energy conversion 
facilities. 

H. Relationship of Parties 

The duties, obligations and liabilities of each of the Parties are intended to be several and 
not joint or collective.  This Option Agreement shall not be interpreted or construed to 
create an association, joint venture, fiduciary relationship or partnership between the 
Parties or to impose any partnership obligation or liability or any trust or agency 
obligation or relationship upon either Party.  Neither of the Parties shall have any right, 
power, or authority to enter into any agreement or undertaking for, or act on behalf of, or 
to act or be an agent or representative of, or to otherwise bind, the other Party. 

I. Counterparts 

This Option Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts and by the Parties 
on separate counterparts, all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement 
and each of which shall be deemed an original. 

[The remainder of this page has been intentionally left blank. 
Signatures appear on next page] 

33



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Option Agreement as of the 
Effective Date. 

CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 

By:  

Name: Dennis L. Marker  

Title: City Manager  

SYNERGEN SOLAR, LLC 

By:  

Name: Hillel Halberstam  

Title: Managing Member  

34



EXHIBIT A

DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY 

The following described real estate situated in THE CITY OF CARIBOU, a body 
corporate and politic, located in the County of Aroostook and State of Maine (mailing 
address: 25 High Street, Caribou, Maine 04736),in that part of said Caribou formerly 
"I" Township, to wit: 

Lot numbered Sixty-five (65) containing in said original lot one hundred fifty-
six and 57/100 (156.57) acres, more or less, excepting and reserving that part of said 
premises which was conveyed by Appleton and others to the Bangor & Aroostook Railroad 
Company containing ten (10) acres, more or less, and also excepting the east part of 
Lot numbered Sixty-five (65) which was conveyed to Peter B. Cyr and described as 
follows: beginning at the northeast corner of said Lot Sixty-five (65), thence south 
by the east line of said Lot twenty-six and 35/100 (26.35) chains to the southeast 
corner; thence west by the south line eighteen and 98/100 (18.98) chains to a 
cedar post; thence 18 degrees and 25 minutes east twenty-six and 35/100 (26.35) chains 
to the north line; thence east by the north line eighteen and 98/100 (18.98) chains, 
more or less, to the place of beginning, containing fifty (50) acres, more or less. 

Also hereby conveying the right to pass and repass in common with C. H. Carlson, 
his heirs and assigns, on foot and with teams on and over a strip of land one (1) rod 
in width commencing at the northeast corner of Lot number Sixty-six (66) in that part 
of said Caribou which was formerly "I" Township and running westerly along the north 
line of said lot as far as the land owned by the Bangor & Aroostook Railroad Company; 
thence commencing at the west line of the Railroad Company aforesaid at the point 
nearest to the railroad crossing and running therefrom directly west to the Ogren Road 
so-called. Said right of way shall forever remain of the same dimensions, subject to 
gates and bars. Reserving the right to place gates or bars wherever James N. Sawyer of 
Caribou, his heirs and assigns, may find it convenient or necessary across the said 
right of way. Said Sawyer may also drive cattle or other beasts over said right of 
way, and way make the same passable, and repair the same at his own pleasure. 

Henry Morrell or his heirs shall have the right to farm any portion of the 
tillageable land, but shall not in any way interfere with the workings or the 
functions of the "City of Caribou". 

Being the same premises conveyed to Joseph B. Robertson and Jeffrey J. Robertson 
as Joint Tenants by Quitclaim Deed of The City of Caribou dated July 2, 1984, and 
recorded in the Southern District of the Aroostook Registry of Deeds in Vol. 1743, 
Page 307; said Joseph B. Robertson having died intestate on August 27, 1990.  

Said premises being further described as Lot 30 on Map 16 of City of Caribou 
Property Tax Maps.

35



EXHIBIT B

DEPICTION OF LAND 

[To be attached in future Amendment] 

36



EXHIBIT C

SITE LEASE AGREEMENT 

[To be attached in future Amendment] 

37



LEASE AGREEMENT 

 

      LEASE made this ___, day of January 2020, by and between City of Caribou, a body 

corporate and politic with a mailing address of 25 High Street, Caribou, ME 04736 (hereafter 

“Lessor”), and Matthew Lajeunesse and Kurt Margeson, with a mailing address of 755 

Westmanland Rd, Westmanland, ME 04783 (hereafter “Lessees”). 

 

      IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual covenants contained herein, the parties agree 

as follows: 

 

l.0  Description of the Premises 

 

      Lessor leases to Lessees and Lessees hire and take from Lessor approximately 2,000 

square foot of the 35,000 square foot building and parking lot located at 60 Access Highway, 

Caribou, Maine (hereafter “Premises”). The Premises is further illustrated as Exhibit A, attached 

hereto. 

 

2.0  Security Deposit 

 

      No security deposit is due under this Lease. 

 

3.0  Rent 

 

 The rent for the Premises during the initial term of the Lease is $2.50 per square foot 

(approximately $5,000 per year) payable in a single installment on or before January 28, 2020. 

Rent shall also include monthly payment of electrical costs outlined in section 8.0 below. The 

rent during any renewal term shall be subject to adjustment as provided herein. 

 

4.0  Term 

 

      The initial term of this Lease shall be for a period of six months, beginning on January 

28, 2020 and terminating on July 31, 2020. The term of the lease may be extended for additional 

1-year terms upon the written mutual agreement of both parties.    

 

5.0  Use of Premises 

 

       The premises are to be used only for an office, storage, woodworking, millwork, and 

related activities and Lessees shall restrict its use to such purposes without the prior written 

consent of Lessor.  

 

6.0  Restrictions on Use 

 

      Lessees shall not use the premises in any manner that will increase risks covered by 

insurance on the premises and result in an increase in the rate of insurance or a cancellation of 

any insurance policy.  Lessees shall not keep, use, or sell anything prohibited by any policy of 

fire insurance covering the premises, and shall comply with all requirements of the insurers 

applicable to the premises necessary to keep in force the fire and liability insurance. Lessees 

shall not allow uses of any unlawful purpose as dictated by the federal, state or local laws. 

 

38



 

2 

Lessees acknowledge that they will be occupying space which may be unsecured from 

other tenants in the building and that Lessees’ use of the premises or common areas is not 

permitted to impede, constrict, or negatively impact the rightful use of the property by other 

tenants already in the building. 

 

7.0  Waste, Nuisance  

 

      Lessees shall be responsible for disposal of all waste and materials which may be 

generated or be a bi-product of Lessees’ business operations. Furthermore, Lessee shall not allow 

for the accumulation of waste or materials which may cause a nuisance within the Premises or to 

other tenants in the building due to odor, sight, infestation, deposition, pollution or discharge.  

 

8.0  Utilities 

 

      Lessees shall be responsible for and shall pay for all utilities for the Premises, including 

telephone service, heat, water, sewer and garbage removal. Lessees will pay a proportionate 

amount of the total electricity costs for the building based on Premises area. Lessor will bill 

Lessees under separate invoice for electricity amounts owed.  

  

9.0  Repairs and Maintenance 

 

      Lessees shall be responsible for maintenance and repair in and around the Premises, 

which shall include but not be limited to the following: 

• plumbing, heating system, roof and outside walls and windows and keep it in good repair 

at Lessees's expense.   

• replacement of any worn out or broken lights and all interior maintenance. 

• Replacement of any worn out or broken locks which are specific to the Lease Area. If any 

locks are changed, Lessees will provide copies of keys to the Lessor. 

 

10.0  Delivery, Accept and Surrender of Premises 

 

      Lessor represents that the premises are in fit condition for use by Lessees. Lessees shall 

surrender the premises at the end of the Lease term, or any renewal thereof, in the same 

condition as when Lessees took possession, allowing for reasonable use and wear, and damage 

by acts of God, including fires and storms.  Lessees shall be obligated to clean the premises upon 

vacating the premises at the expiration of the term of this Lease and adhere to all applicable 

Federal, State and Local standards. 

 

11.0  Partial/Total Destruction 

 

      If the premises shall be partially damaged by fire or other casualty which is insured, but 

not rendered untenantable, the same shall be repaired with due diligence by the Lessor, at its 

expense.  If the damage shall be so extensive as to render the premises unfit for use by Lessees, 

the rent shall be proportionately paid up to the time of such damage, and shall, from thenceforth, 

cease until such time as the premises shall be put in good order.  If the Lessor shall not elect 

within thirty (30) days after such damage to rebuild or restore the same premises, then this Lease 

shall forthwith terminate.  In the event of the total destruction of the premises by fire or other 

casualty, this Lease shall cease and come to an end and the Lessees shall be liable for rent only 

up to the time of such destruction.  The Lessees shall be entitled to receive a pro-rata refund of 

39



 

3 

any advance rent paid by it for the rent period during which the leased premises were wholly or 

partially destroyed. 

 

12.0  Entry on Premises by Lessor 

 

      Lessor reserves the right to enter on the premises at reasonable times to inspect the 

property or make additions, alterations, or modifications to any part of the building in which the 

premises are located, and Lessees shall permit Lessor to do so.  Lessor may erect scaffolding, 

fences, and similar structures, post relevant notices, and place moveable equipment in connection 

with making alterations, additions, or repairs, all without incurring liability to Lessees for 

disturbance of quiet enjoyment of the premises, or loss of occupation thereof.  Lessor shall give 

Lessees reasonable notice of Lessor's intention to enter the premises.  

 

13.0  Alterations 

 

      Lessees shall make no alterations to the building or grounds without the prior written 

consent of the Lessor.  No locks shall be installed or changed except with the written permission 

of the Lessor. 

 

14.0  Taxes 

 

      Lessees shall be responsible for all real and personal property taxes, if any, relevant to the 

Premises during the term of this Lease. 

 

15.0  Indemnification of Lessor 

 

      Lessees agrees to indemnify and save Lessor harmless from and against all claims of 

whatever nature arising from any act, omission or negligence of Lessees, or Lessees' contractors, 

licensees, agents, or employees, or arising from any accident, injury, or damage whatsoever 

caused to any person or to the property of any person occurring during the term hereof in and 

about the Premises.  This indemnity and hold harmless agreement shall include indemnity 

against all costs, expenses, and liabilities of any kind whatsoever incurred in or in connection 

with any such claim or proceeding brought thereon, and the defense thereof. 

 

16.0  Insurance 

 

Lessees shall maintain and keep in full force and effect at all times during the term of this 

Agreement a policy of commercial general liability (including fire legal liability) insurance with 

an insurance company licensed to do business in the State of Maine covering Lessor and Lessees 

against claims for loss or injury to persons or property occurring on the Premises. Such insurance 

coverage will be in at least the amount of $400,000 for general liability insurance and in at least 

the amount of $250,000 for fire liability, and which amounts will be increased from time to time, 

but only if required to meet the provisions of the Maine Tort Claims Act, as it may be amended. 

Lessees shall provide Lessor with a copy of the certificate evidencing such insurance and naming 

Lessor as an additional named insured upon execution of this Agreement and upon the annual 

anniversary of the commencement date of this Agreement thereafter. 

 

Lessees shall maintain Lessees’ own insurance against loss or damage to Lessees’ 

property (including, without limitations, the contents of the building) at the Premises. Lessees 

shall provide Lessor with written evidence of such property damage/casualty insurance upon 

40



 

4 

execution of this Agreement and upon the annual anniversary of the commencement date of this 

Agreement thereafter. 

 

Lessor will not be liable for any damage or loss to any person or property occurring on 

the Premises, and Lessees will defend, indemnify and hold harmless Lessor, its agents, officers 

and employees, against any and all claims arising from any claims of such liability, unless 

resulting from the negligence or intentional acts of Lessor or Lessor’s agents, officers and 

employees. All obligations of indemnification contained in this Agreement shall survive any 

termination of this Agreement. 

 

17.0  Assignment, Sublease or License 

 

      Lessees shall not assign or sublease the premises, or any right or privilege connected 

therewith, or allow any other person except agents and employees of Lessees to occupy the 

premises or any part thereof without first obtaining the written consent of Lessor.  A consent by 

Lessor shall not be a consent to a subsequent assignment, sublease, or occupation by other 

persons.  An unauthorized assignment, sublease, or license to occupy by Lessees shall be void 

and shall terminate the Lease at the option of Lessor.  The interest of Lessees in this Lease is not 

assignable by operation of law without the written consent of Lessor. 

 

18.0  Default or Breach 

 

      Each of the following events shall constitute a default or breach of this Lease by Lessees: 

 

      (l)   If Lessees, or any successor or assignee of Lessees while in possession, shall file a 

petition in bankruptcy or insolvency or for reorganization under any bankruptcy 

act, or shall voluntarily take advantage of any such act by answer or otherwise, or 

shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors. 

      (2)   If  involuntary proceedings under any bankruptcy law or insolvency act shall be 

instituted against Lessees, or if a receiver of trustee shall be appointed of all or 

substantially all of the property of Lessees, and such proceedings shall not be 

dismissed or the receivership or trusteeship vacated within thirty (30) days after 

the institution or appointment. 

     (3)   If Lessees shall fail to pay the rent, or any part thereof when the rent shall become 

due. 

      (4)   If Lessees shall fail to perform or comply with any of the terms and/or conditions 

of this Lease. 

      (5)   If Lessees shall vacate or abandon the Premises. 

      (6)   If this Lease or the estate of Lessees hereunder shall be transferred to or shall 

pass to or devolve on any other person or party, except in the manner herein 

permitted. 

 

19.0 Effect of Default 

 

      In the event of any default by Lessees hereunder, as set forth in Section 18, Lessor shall 

provide Lessees with written notice of the breach of the Lease terms or conditions and Lessees 

shall have thirty (30) days to correct the default.  If the default is not cured within thirty (30) 

days, this Lease and the term hereby granted shall terminate and be forfeited, at the option of the 

Lessor, Lessor's successors or assigns.  Lessor shall also have the right and option to enforce the 

terms and conditions of the Lease by any method available under Maine law and including the 

41



 

5 

right of Lessor to expel Lessees and relet the property to a third party. 

 

      In the event this Lease is terminated by Lessor because of a breach by Lessees, Lessor 

may recover from Lessees all damages proximately resulting from the breach, including the cost 

of recovery of the premises, attorney's fees, and the rent due under this Lease for the remainder 

of the Lease term as if not earlier terminated by Lessor in accordance with Maine law.  Lessees 

shall be entitled to a credit in the next amount of rent received by Lessor if the property is re-let 

after deduction of all expenses incurred in re-letting the Premises.   

 

 In the event of litigation between the Lessor or Lessees in enforcing the provisions of this 

Lease, the prevailing party shall be entitled to an award of reasonable attorney fees incurred in 

the prosecution of the litigation. 

 

20.0    Renewal 

 

 This Lease shall automatically be renewed for successive terms of one (1) years each 

unless either party provides written notice of termination to the other party at least 60 days prior 

to the expiration of this lease agreement or any renewal term.   The rent during any renewal term 

shall be subject to negotiation and agreement of the Lessor and Lessees.  

 

21.0 Termination 

 

 The Lessor shall have the option to terminate this lease at their discretion with a forty-

five (45) day notice to the Lessees. If the Lessor terminates the lease the Lessor agrees to refund 

Lessees for rent paid which covers time beyond the 45-day notice.   

 

The Lessees may terminate this lease after providing a 30-day notice to Lessor. Lessees 

agrees to pay for all utilities, as listed under section 8.0, which may be utilized until the Premises 

is surrendered to the Lessor. 

 

21.0  Surrender of Possession 

 

      Lessees shall, on the last day of the term of this Lease, or on earlier termination and 

forfeiture of the Lease, peaceably and quietly surrender and deliver the Premises free of sub 

tenancies, and in as good a condition as they are now, normal wear and tear excepted.  Any trade 

fixtures or personal property of Lessees that is left behind and not removed at the termination or 

default, and if Lessor shall so elect, shall be deemed abandoned and become the property of the 

Lessor without any payment or offset therefore.  Lessor may remove such fixtures or property 

from the Premises and store them at the risk and expense of Lessees if Lessees shall not so elect. 

 

22.0  Agreement Binding 

 

      This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and 

their heirs, assigns and successors. 

 

 
 

(The remainder of this page intentionally left blank. Signature page follows)  

42



 

6 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands and seals the day and year first 

above written. 

 

City of Caribou- Lessor 

 

By___________________________      ________________________________ 

Dennis Marker, City Manager    Attest By: Jayne Farrin, City Clerk  

        

       

Lessees                         

 

By___________________________   _______________________________ 

Matthew Lajeunesse     Witness 

  

 

By___________________________   _______________________________ 

Kurt Margeson     Witness 

   

43



EXHIBIT A: MAP OF THE PREMISES 

 

        Access Highway 

 

Premises 

 

Common Area with 

other building tenants 

East Parking Lot 

East Parking Lot 

44



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  

FROM:  Dennis Marker, City Manager  

RE:   Non-Union Wage & Classification System Update 

DATE:  January 22, 2020 

 

Discussion Item: 

 

There are conflicts within the currently adopted charter and ordinances regarding how to 

determine staff wages. The charter indicates the city should “solely” use a “basis of merit and 

fitness”1 but at the same time indicates that the city is to have a “classification of all positions” 

and a related “pay plan.”2 The Wages and Salaries language in Chapter 2 of the city’s ordinances 

provides that the city is to maintain “a salary schedule for all positions . . . to keep positional 

salaries at a comparable rate.”3 The three provisions may be summarized generally as merit-

based, step and grade, and market based compensation systems. 

 

A merit-based system relies primarily upon comparison of job descriptions to performance. To 

be most effective, this system requires regular performance reviews, follow up and supervisor 

responsibility to document kudos and corrections. Supervisors should focus on goals to improve 

performance, efficiencies and prevent stagnation from the employee and organization 

perspectives. Higher performers and positive change initiators would receive greater 

compensation within a range affixed to each position. If an employee tops out their range, they 

will have demonstrated competency and may be ideal candidates for promotion opportunities in 

order to receive higher wages. If supervisors are not trained and perform their duties properly, 

this system can create organizational stresses and morale problems. This system can also be a 

great motivator toward organizational improvement and employee buy-in as they pursue means 

to create and build. 

Key factors: Complete Job Descriptions, Performance Reviews, Appropriate Wage Ranges 

 

The step and grade system provides a level of pay based on a classification (i.e. grade) of duties 

and position tenure. It assumes each employee performing their jobs dutifully is entitled to 

additional compensation for their experience, institutional knowledge, and to avoid the risk of 

training someone new. Employees would receive step increases each year for up to 8-10 years. It 

is assumed that near the end of the steps in grade an employee will have demonstrated 

competency and may be ideal candidates for promotion opportunities to a higher grade. This 

system has the benefit of stabilizing morale but also reduces supervisory function and employee 

incentives for betterment of themselves and the organization.  

Key factors: Complete Job Descriptions, Grade Classification, Step incentive  

 

The market-based system assumes that all employees having the same duties within a region 

should be paid the same amount. The greatest limitation to this system is the availability and 

 
1 City Charter §4.02(a) 
2 City Charter §4.02(c) 
3 See City Ordinance Chapter 2, Wages and Salaries, first paragraph. 

45



cleanness of the market data. How are duties assigned across comparables? What is the sample 

region? Should samples vary depending on departments, positions, demographics, regions, etc.? 

The organizational would also need to decide if it would push the market (i.e. retain and attract 

employees), stay equal to the market (retain some employees and but be a stepping ground) or 

lag the market due to other variables. Lagging in the market without reconsidering the market 

area or organizational goals would likely result in high employee turnover and lack of 

productivity. The market-based system is beneficial within peer associations. If everyone is 

being paid the same, then there are fewer complaints, but some resentment can occur between 

employees if individuals are not pulling their own weight. This system is like the step and grade 

system in that there is stabilizing of morale, reduction of supervisory function and less incentive 

for employees’ betterment or organization improvement. That being said, even the merit-based 

system must utilize an element of market conditions to make sure appropriate wage ranges are 

established. 

Key factors: Survey Data, Data Sources 

 

It is my belief that the best compensation method to bolster efficiencies, incentivize growth, and 

improve morale is to reinforce a merit-based system for Caribou’s employees. In order to do this 

the following steps are needed: 

 

• Establishing complete job descriptions and clarification of duties for each position. Some 

job descriptions are already available. Others should be modified based on current tasks 

and functions. 

• Determining appropriate wage ranges for each position using a mix of national, state, and 

regional wage data. A draft of this process was submitted to the Personnel Committee in 

2019.  

• Creating a standard progress review form for use across all departments which will 

evaluate the eight adopted factors of knowledge/education, decision making, job 

experience, responsibility/accountability, management control, relationships, 

analysis/research, and working conditions. 

• Training of supervisors and mid-level supervisors on progress review procedures. 

Progress reviews to be done with two-deep leadership. 

• Implementing regular progress reviews (at least quarterly) with an annual performance 

report near each employee’s anniversary date. 

• Adopting budget provisions for a standardized Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA) each 

year. 

• Adopting budget provisions for a merit-based increase each year. Merit increases would 

be based on budget availability, progress reviews, and efficiencies created. These may 

include one-time, year-end bonuses or pay increases. 

• Adopting modified personnel policies for consistency with the City Charter. These 

changes will need to be further drafted and brought to the Council for consideration as an 

ordinance. 

 

46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56


